IN THE COURT OF APPEALS
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON
DIVISION II

NO. 48423-4-II

(Thurston County Superior Court Cause No. 15-2-00527-5)

JOHN ROSKELLEY, FAYETTE KRAUSE, SPOKANE AUDUBON
SOCIETY, SPOKANE MOUNTAINEERS, AND THE LANDS
COUNCIL,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION,
AND MT. SPOKANE 2000,

Respondents.

BRIEF OF APPELLANTS

David A. Bricklin, WSBA No. 7588
Jacob Brooks, WSBA No. 48720
BRICKLIN & NEWMAN, LLP
1001 Fourth Avenue, Suite 3200
Seattle, WA 98154
(206) 264-8600
Attorneys for Appellants

BY AR
DEPUTY
STATE OF WASHINGTON

2016 FEB 24 AM 10:57

FILED
COURT OF APPEALS
DIVISION II

P/M: 2/19/16

I. INTRODUCTION

The Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission has a dual mission: to protect natural resources in state parks and to provide for recreational opportunities. Much of the time, these missions are compatible; sometimes they conflict. This case involves the latter situation and the agency's failure to follow its own policy for dealing with such a conflict.

Six years ago, the Commission adopted a policy to address natural resource protection in Washington state parks. The policy addressed the possible conflict between recreational pursuits and resource protection. The Commissioners adopted a nuanced policy that did not always favor one mission or the other. In commonplace settings, the policy suggests a balancing of interests. But in settings where unusually important natural resources are present (*e.g.*, resources of "regional or statewide significance"), the policy precludes more intense forms of recreation. In these high value areas, only low-intensity recreational activities are allowed:

This case presented the Commission with a situation directly within the scope of this policy. A part of Mount Spokane State Park is developed

with an existing downhill ski area. The private concessionaire which operates the ski area (respondent Mount Spokane 2000 or “MS 2000”) seeks permission to expand the ski area into an old growth forest by clear-cutting ski runs and installing a chair lift. The Parks Commission has identified that forest as perhaps the most exceptional natural resource landscape *in the entire park system*. As the agency’s chief wildlife biologist stated:

The forests of the [proposed expansion area] **meet or exceed all agency Natural Forest criteria and represent the highest level of natural resources quality in the state park system (and the state of Washington as well).**

CP 214 (emphasis supplied).

The agency also recognized that downhill skiing, with its ski lifts and ski runs, is an intensive form of recreation. If the recently adopted policy had been applied, MS 2000’s request to locate a high-intensity recreational use like downhill skiing on these highly valued natural resource lands would have been denied.

This appeal was filed because, not only did the Parks Commission approve the land classification which allowed the ski area expansion, it did so without providing any consideration to the substance of its recently adopted policy. The Commission did not address whether the ski area expansion violated the policy. The Commission did not address whether

some special circumstance existed which justified deviating from the policy. The Commission simply ignored its own policy which had been adopted to address this precise type of conflict.

This case presents a textbook example of arbitrary and capricious conduct. The Commission's decision was arbitrary and capricious because it ignored the Commission's own well-reasoned existing policy which calls for adopting the most protective land classifications for sensitive and unique resources. It was also arbitrary and capricious because the agency deviated from its policy without providing any reasoned justification for doing so.

The agency's decision should be vacated and the matter remanded to the agency to reconsider its decision in light of its own applicable findings and policy.

II. ASSIGNMENT OF ERROR AND ISSUES

A. Assignment of Error

The trial court erred in entering the Order of Dismissal (CP 439) and in entering the Order Dismissing Petitioners' Motion for Reconsideration (CP 469).

B. Issues Pertaining to Assignment of Error

Whether the Commission considered and applied its policy, *Protecting Washington State Parks' Natural Resources: A Comprehensive Natural Resource Management Policy, Subpart E*, to its November 20, 2014 land classification decision?

Whether it is arbitrary and capricious for an agency to deviate from an existing policy without providing a reasoned explanation?

Whether an agency must provide a reasoned explanation for its decision on the record?

III. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. Procedural History

The Commission's action approving the ski area expansion in Mt. Spokane State Park occurred on November 20, 2014. Petitioners filed a Petition for Judicial Review on March 17, 2015. CP 4. The Parties submitted briefs on the merits. CP 63; CP 403; CP 421; CP 424. The superior court considered oral argument, and then ruled in favor of Respondents. CP 439. Petitioners filed a motion for reconsideration which was briefed by all parties. CP 442; CP 454; CP 461. The superior court considered oral argument, but denied Petitioners' motion for

reconsideration. CP 469. This appeal followed. CP 471.

B. Overview

Mt. Spokane State Park is the crown jewel of the Washington state park system. Its high-quality, uninterrupted habitat is unmatched in Eastern Washington. It is Washington's largest state park at 13,919 acres. Located approximately 22 miles northeast of Spokane in Spokane County, the area was the first state park east of the Cascades. AR 00206. Due to its size and high-quality natural resources, the Commission staff report prepared for the land classification decision noted that the forests of Mt. Spokane "provides significant habitat." CP 194. The forest covering the western and northwestern slopes of Mt. Spokane contains trees that show no signs of human logging and contain stands of old-growth timber that provide ideal habitat for several focal species. CP 151. Little wonder that the Commission's chief wildlife biologist concluded that the lands possessed "the highest level of natural resources quality in the state park system." CP 214.

The area of Mt. Spokane State Park at issue is an approximately 800-acre portion of the park that covers most of the western and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane. AR 00208. In 1999, the Commission classified all

lands within Mt. Spokane State Park for a variety of uses using its Land Classification System except for the 800-acre portion in question. AR 00207.¹

An existing privately-operated ski area, the Mount Spokane Ski and Snowboard Park, covers 1,425 acres of the park, or over 10% of the park, on the north, northeastern, and eastern faces of the mountain. AR 00208. MS 2000, the private concessionaire, operates the existing ski area. Mount Spokane Ski and Snowboard Park includes five chairlifts and 32 ski runs, two lodges, and a ski patrol building.

To allow expansion of the ski area into the old growth forests on the western and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane, the area first had to be classified under the Commission's Land Classification System. The agency's Land Classification System, similar to a zoning ordinance, allows different uses in different classifications. Some classifications are quite protective of natural resources and allow only limited, low impact recreation. Other classifications allow more intense recreational use. The

¹ The 800 acre area is also referred to as the "Potential Alpine Ski Expansion Area" or "PASEA" due to the fact that the land was unclassified until the November 20, 2014 Commission decision.

only classification that allows high-intensity recreational development, like downhill skiing, is the “Recreation” classification. AR 00207.

In 2010, the Commission adopted a policy to protect natural resources in the park system. Among other things, the policy precluded high-intensity recreational uses on the most important natural resource lands in the park system (including those considered to be of "regional or statewide significance", CP 281).

On November 20, 2014, the Commission voted through a split decision of 5 to 2 to adopt the least protective classification of “Recreation” to allow the ski area expansion. The Commission approved the “Recreation” classification despite the conflict between the decision and the recently adopted policy. The Commission took the action without any analysis of the policy and without providing any justification for deviating from the policy.

C. Mt. Spokane’s Significant Natural Resources

State agencies, including the Parks Commission, MS 2000’s own consultants, tribes, and members of the public have long recognized the natural resource value of Mt. Spokane, and the northwest and west side of Mt. Spokane in particular. These facts are not in dispute.

In 1993, the Department of Natural Resource's Natural Heritage Program conducted an evaluation of the forests of Mt. Spokane State Park. The Department of Natural Resources recommended that the west and northwest side of Mt. Spokane be classified as a Natural Forest Area. The "Natural Forest Area" classification is one of the most protective classifications in the Commission's Land Classification System. It provides for "preservation, restoration, and interpretation of natural forest processes while providing for low-intensity outdoor recreation activities as subordinate uses." WAC 352-16-020(5).

In 2007, Rex Crawford, Ph.D. and Natural Heritage Ecologist, submitted scoping comments on behalf of the Department of Natural Resources on the first iteration of the proposed ski area expansion. The comments noted that the department's original 1993 report concluded that "much of the park was and still is a natural forest will be emphasized to define it as a valuable conservation asset of **uncommon quality**." CP 154 (emphasis supplied). The Department of Natural Resources emphasized the regional significance of Mt. Spokane State Park: "Mt. Spokane Park appears not only to be the largest, least fragmented forest landscape locally but inspection of aerial photography in Washington and Idaho reveals that

similarly sized and continuous forest areas do not occur within a 20 to 30 mile radius.” *Id.* The department also pointed out the unusual habitat provided by Mt. Spokane’s west and northwest slopes:

The forest vegetation communities composing the [western and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane] are representative of the subalpine and mid-montane forests of the Northern Rocky Mountains. Although these communities may be relatively common, their occurrence in a continuous forest block in a natural, unmanipulated condition is an uncommon quality. The area warrants special recognition and attention so that in [sic] continues to add to the diversity of the park as an important natural destination in Washington.

CP 155. The Department of Natural Resources submitted comments on the Draft Environmental Impact Statement in 2014 reaffirming the natural resource value of this part of Mt. Spokane State Park. AR 00444.

The west and northwest sides of Mt. Spokane have remained in their natural state since the Washington Department of Natural Resources first identified its “uncommon quality” in 1993. Twenty-three years later, the natural and unmanipulated forests have greater value, not less.

In 2010, MS 2000 hired the Pacific Biodiversity Institute to conduct biological surveys in the Biological Survey Area (“BSA”) where ski area expansion was proposed. The Commission later adopted the Institute’s findings as Appendix B to the Final Environmental Impact Statement. AR

00264. After surveying and mapping 92 discrete sampling areas (known as “habitat polygons”) within the BSA, Pacific Biodiversity Institute concluded that the BSA included significant areas of old-growth forest and provided high-quality and abundant habitat for wildlife species:

There are significant areas of old-growth forest within the BSA. These forests provide habitat for wildlife species dependent on late-successional forest condition. Much of the rest of the forests within the BSA also have some old, large trees and are moving toward old-growth conditions. Nearly all the forest stands in the BSA have abundant large and small snags of various decay classes, providing abundant habitat for wildlife species that depend on snags for nesting, foraging and roosting. In some stands, snags are more common than live trees. Likewise, there is an abundance of coarse woody debris in the forests of the BSA. Many polygons within the BSA have very high levels of large coarse woody debris. There is no lack of habitat for wildlife species that depend on coarse woody debris for any of their life stages or activities within the BSA.

CP 151. Furthermore, Pacific Biodiversity Institute found that the abundant streams, springs, and small wetlands in the BSA “provide habitat and water for many wildlife species.” *Id.*

In 2007, the Commission and the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife identified twenty-one “focal” wildlife species² which occur at

² The FEIS explains that the term “focal” was used to identify species from a wide range of taxa and which use a wide range of environments present on Mt. Spokane. AR 00233. The FEIS acknowledges the impacts to the focal species due to clearing and construction of ski facilities. AR 00237. In addition, Mt. Spokane State Park is home to a

Mt. Spokane State Park. AR 00320. The Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife has identified several of these focal species as endangered, threatened, priority, and candidate species. AR 00321. Some focal species, such as the wolverine and northern goshawk, have federal status under the Endangered Species Act. *Id.* Mt. Spokane State Park provides sensitive habitat for all twenty-one of the focal species, habitat that is otherwise not available in the region. AR 00323-330. The park also serves as an invaluable wildlife travel corridor that connects with the rest of the Selkirk Mountains to the north. AR 00353. According to the expert wildlife agency, the west and northwest flanks of Mt. Spokane provide significant habitat for wildlife and ski area development would result in permanent impacts to wildlife habitat and habitat fragmentation that would be difficult, if not impossible, to mitigate. CP 156.

Furthermore, the western and northwest slopes of Mt. Spokane are home to ten Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife “species of concern.” AR 00233-00234. “Species of concern” is a term of art that refers to species identified by the Washington Department of Fish and

wide diversity of other wildlife, including cougar, coyote, deer, moose, elk, black bear, western toads, small mammals, bats, butterflies, and over 110 documented bird species. AR 00319.

Wildlife as a state endangered species, state threatened species, state candidate species, or state monitored species. *Id.*

Based on this and other similar information, the Washington Department of Fish and Wildlife repeatedly urged the Commission to protect the high resource values of the west and northwestern sides of Mt. Spokane. *See, e.g.*, AR 00511. The department even sent an additional comment letter on November 13, 2014, shortly before the Commission's final decision. Noting that the department's concerns had been "well documented" in past correspondence, the department urged the Commission to classify the sensitive forests as restrictively as possible. CP 156. The department's concerns included "wildlife corridor fragmentation, elimination of large ungulate winter and summer thermal cover removal and impacts to Priority Habitats that support a variety of native wildlife and plant species." *Id.*

D. The Land Classification System of the Washington State Parks and Recreation Commission

To protect valuable natural resources and manage lands within state parks, the Commission has established a Land Classification System under WAC 352-16-020. The Land Classification System is similar to a zoning code and provides six land classifications which provide different levels of

resource protection and allow different levels of outdoor recreation. Three classifications are available to protect areas with high resource values:

- “Natural Areas” protect areas with “significant ecological, geological or paleontological value.” WAC 352-16-020(3).
- “Natural Forest Areas” preserve old growth, mature forests and other unusual forest communities. WAC 352-16-020(5).
- “Natural Area Preserves” protect areas with “rare or vanishing” wildlife, plants or natural history features. WAC 352-16-020(6).

In each of these areas with high natural resource values, only “low-intensity” recreation is allowed. WAC 352-16-020(3), (5) and (6). A ski area would not be allowed in any of these protective classifications.

Of the three classifications available to protect significant natural resources, the one relevant to this case is the “Natural Forest Area” classification. The rule identifies three different types of significant forest resources that comprise the “Natural Forest Area” classification:

- (a) Old-growth forest communities that have developed for one hundred fifty years or longer and have the following structural characteristics: Large old-growth trees, large snags, large logs on land, and large logs in streams; or
- (b) Mature forest communities that have developed for ninety years or longer; or

(c) Unusual forest communities and/or interrelated vegetative communities of significant ecological value.

WAC 352-16-120(5).

Two classifications are available for less sensitive areas where more intense recreation is allowed. The “Resource Recreation” classification is a mid-range classification which allows “medium-intensity” and “low-intensity” recreational use. WAC 352-16-020(2). The “Resource Recreation” classification does not allow a ski lift or formal ski run facilities to be constructed. AR 00210. Examples of “low-intensity” recreation include interpretive trails, hiking trails, cross-country ski trails, off-trail hiking, and backcountry skiing. AR 00219. At the far end of the spectrum, the “Recreation” classification allows “high-intensity” recreation. WAC 352-16-020(1). “High-intensity” recreation allows for the clearing of vegetation to construct ski lifts and ski trails, along with the operation of motorized equipment to groom ski runs. AR 00222. Only the “Recreation” classification allows for ski lifts and formal ski trails to be constructed. AR 00210.

The sixth classification (not at issue here) is “Heritage” which provides protection for “unique or unusual archaeological, historical, scientific and/or cultural resources.” WAC 352-16-020(4).

E. The Parks Commission's Natural Resource Policy Precludes High Intensity Recreational Uses on Lands with High Natural Resource Value

In 2010, to further its mission of protecting the natural resources in its charge, the Commission adopted an over-arching natural resource policy: Policy 73-04-1, *Protecting Washington State Parks' Natural Resources: A Comprehensive Natural Resource Management Policy*. CP 265. The policy serves as the Commission's finding of the "key points needed to promote the long-term protection and conservation of the natural resources in the agency's care." CP 268. "With institutional commitment and budgetary support, this policy will ensure the long-term protection of State Parks' natural resources." *Id.*

Policy E.1, entitled "Land Classification," places the emphasis squarely on conservation, not recreation, when sensitive and significant natural resources are to be classified. The policy identifies the three high resource value classifications (Natural Areas, Natural Forest Areas, and Natural Area Preserves) for primary use in protecting high value natural resources. Each of these allows little or no recreational development. *See supra* at 13. The policy provides that a fourth category (Resource Recreation) may be allowed in some limited circumstances, but as described

above, this category precludes high-intensity recreation, too. There is no reference to classifying these high value resource lands with the "Recreation" designation that allows high-intensity recreation, like downhill skiing. The policy states:

Areas of a park containing natural resources of regional or statewide significance, unusual and/or sensitive habitats (*e.g.*, bald eagles), or a species of concern should be classified restrictively to allow only low-intensity uses and minor facilities development. Typically, one of three natural area classifications should be applied to such areas (Natural Areas, Natural Forest Areas, or Natural Area Preserves), although the "Resource Recreation" classification also provides a relatively high degree of resource protection and may offer the best option to address conflicting use issues at a specific site.

CP 281.

The Commission's policy is clear: when lands within a park are of significant natural resource value, contain unusual or sensitive habitats, or contain a species of concern, the land should be classified to promote conservation, not recreation. The policy even identifies a fourth, compromise classification — Resource Recreation — to address conflicting uses, but that compromise classification does not allow intense recreation either. WAC 352-16-020(2). In no event does the policy call for the "high-

intensity” Recreation classification where high value natural resource lands are at risk.

F. The Commission’s Awareness of Mt. Spokane’s Significant Natural Resource Value

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