No. 48423-4

**COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION II
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON**

JOHN ROSKELLEY, FAYETTE KRAUSE, SPOKANE AUDUBON
SOCIETY, SPOKANE MOUNTAINEERS, and THE LANDS
COUNCIL,

Appellants,

v.

WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION COMMISSION,
and MT. SPOKANE 2000,

Respondents.

**WASHINGTON STATE PARKS AND RECREATION
COMMISSION'S RESPONSE TO BRIEF OF APPELLANTS**

ROBERT W. FERGUSON
Attorney General

JAMES R. SCHWARTZ, WSBA No. 20168
Senior Counsel

MICHAEL M. YOUNG, WSBA No. 35562
Assistant Attorney General

OID No. 91033

PO Box 40100

Olympia, WA 98504-0100

(360) 586-4034

Attorneys for Respondent Washington State
Parks and Recreation Commission

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

IV. ARGUMENT

A. Legal Standard

This Court reviews this matter de novo applying the arbitrary and capricious standard to an agency action. That standard has been defined as follows: An "agency action is arbitrary and capricious if it is willful and unreasoning and taken without regard to the attending facts or circumstances." *Wash. Indep. Tel. Ass'n v. WUTC*, 148 Wn.2d 887, 905, 64 P.3d 606 (2003). When there is room for two opinions, a reviewing court will not substitute its own judgment for the agency, but the agency

action must be taken after due consideration of the facts and circumstances. *Hillis v. Dep't of Ecology*, 131 Wn.2d 373, 383, 932 P.2d 139 (1997).

The essence of Appellants' argument is that the arbitrary and capricious standard required the Commission to make detailed citations to and detailed explanation of a policy that guided this process. See ARSUPP00177-200 (Policy 73-04-1). Appellants argue that the Commission deviated from the policy and failed to explain in detail why it made the deviation. They argue that absent such explanations in the record, the decision is arbitrary no matter how well supported or reasoned the decision was. As demonstrated below, the policy did not dictate any particular result as suggested by appellants, and the Commission did not deviate from the policy: the Commission applied the policy. Under the arbitrary and capricious standard, the record need only show the decision was not unreasoning and not taken without regard to the attending facts or circumstances.

B. The Natural Resource Policy Does Not Preclude Recreational Use

Appellants allege that the Commission deviated from its laws and an existing policy by approving an action that strikes a compromise between preserving natural resources and allowing some more intense

recreational use within a limited portion of the PASEA. To the contrary, neither the rules nor the policy prohibit such a decision.

As a preliminary matter, WAC 352-16 authorizes the Commission to engage in a planning process to classify its lands; it does not require any particular result.

WAC 352-16-020

Land classification system.

State parks areas are of statewide natural, cultural and/or recreational significance and/or outstanding scenic beauty. They provide varied facilities serving low-intensity, medium-intensity, and high-intensity outdoor recreation activities, areas reserved for preservation, scientific research, education, public assembly, and/or environmental interpretation, and support facilities. They **may** be classified **in whole or part** as follows: Recreation . . . Resource recreation . . . Natural areas

Emphasis added.

WAC 352-16-030(2)

Nothing in this section shall be construed to allow uses that are otherwise prohibited, nor prohibit uses that are otherwise expressly allowed, by the commission, this code or by statute.

As to the Natural Resource Management Policy cited by Appellants, it too uses a flexible approach to sustain natural resources while classifying and managing state parks. The 20-page policy, as a whole, addresses many aspects of park management to ensure that natural resources are considered in making a wide variety of management

decisions affecting use of a state park. *See* CP265-88. The policy is far more extensive than the single paragraph in Subsection E relied upon by Appellants.

In the general principles, the policy indicates that recreation and preservation are acknowledged goals. The policy does not foster preservation over recreation. It fosters preservation consistent with recreation, the dual statutory mandate for the Commission. RCW 79A.05.030. The policy reads as follows:

A. Biodiversity Protection

1. Biological resources – general principles

State Parks will maintain native plants and animals (biodiversity) that currently occur **When consistent with recreation use**, cultural resources integrity, and other agency objectives, native plants and animals will also be preserved in lands classified in Recreation and Heritage Areas.

ARSUPP00181 (emphasis added).

The term classification is mentioned in two other subsections of the policy. First, there is the subsection on Resource Use:

D. Resource Use

1. Recreational facilities / activities

State Parks has a mission of protecting resources of the system **while providing for recreational use** by the public. Given the need to **balance** these goals, State Parks' staff will carefully analyze on a system-wide and / or park specific basis the long-term impacts to natural processes

and resources resulting from facilities development . . . and recreational uses. A Commission-approved land classification will be developed for all parks to preserve the integrity of significant natural resources through the identification of appropriate recreation uses and developments. New developments will seek to minimize the impact of recreational activities.

ARSUPP00189 (emphasis added).

Subsection E of the policy, argued by Appellants as mandating a particular classification, reads as follows:

E. Planning

1. Land classification

Areas of a park containing natural resources of regional or statewide significance . . . **should** be classified restrictively to allow only low-intensity uses and minor facilities development. **Typically**, one of three natural area classifications should be applied to such areas. . . .

CP281 (emphasis added).

Note the policy uses the word “should” in Subsection E, which courts have held to mean permissible and expresses a desire or request, especially where it occurs in a document that also uses the mandatory “shall.” *State v. Garrett*, 80 Wn. App. 651, 653, 910 P.2d 552 (1996). In Subsection A, Biodiversity, quoted above, the policy uses the mandatory word “will” repeatedly. The Commission distinguishes in the policy when an activity is mandatory “will” versus discretionary “should.” The policy also uses the word “typically” in Subsection E in the context of

recommending what classifications might be considered for such unique areas. It does not say the Commission can only choose from one of the recommended classifications as suggested by Appellants. Appellants are reading into the policy words that are not there.

Because the policy does not mandate any particular classification, the Commission was free to choose a compromise classification that protects the natural areas in the majority (521 acres) of the 800 acres and that allows high intensity recreation on 279 acres with restrictions.

The Commission's decision is not rendered arbitrary simply because the Commission did not offer a written explanation tying its decision to one paragraph of a 20-page policy, especially where the record demonstrates the Commission and agency staff thoroughly wrestled with and considered the competing values and resources that informed the agency's natural resource policy. The record is replete with references to studies and public processes. The policy itself was referenced three times in the EIS. AR00020, AR00079, and AR000532.

When a member of The Lands Council commented on biodiversity, Parks staff mentioned the biodiversity portion of the applicable policy when they responded as follows:

The Washington State Parks Commission has also provided direction regarding the management of natural resources within areas classified as "*Recreation*" [which] is discussed

in *Commission Policy 73-04-1 Protecting Washington State Parks Natural Resources*. For clarity, Subsection A(1) states that “State Parks will maintain native plants and animals (biodiversity) that occur, or seek to re-establish them where they historically occurred, within those park lands classified by the Commission as Resource Recreation Areas, Natural Areas, Natural Forest Areas, or Natural Area Preserves. *When consistent with recreational use, cultural resources integrity, and other agency objectives, native plants and animals will also be preserved in lands classified as Recreation and Heritage Areas.*”

AR00532 (emphasis in original).

As Appellants indicate, the policy was also brought to the attention of the Commission the night of public comment that preceded the decision: Mr. Bricklin told the Commission that the policy legally prohibited alternative 4 [the alternative ultimately selected]. Commissioner Brown called upon staff at the Commission meeting the following day to address Mr. Bricklin’s comment. Parks’ staff person, Lisa Lantz, recited the policy explaining the process that would be followed in a typical natural area. AR00755. Essentially, Mr. Bricklin had misstated the legal effect of the policy in his public comment to the Commissioners. The policy does not legally mandate any particular result with respect to Subsection E. The record shows the Commissioners were aware of the policy and, contrary to ignoring it, applied that policy to this unique area which, based on its historical recreational activities in the

PASEA, was not a **typical** natural area. Parks staff and the Commission fully considered the policy.

The policy is designed to deal with, in a sensitive manner, the dual statutory mission of state parks as articulated by the Commissioners at the final meeting: provide recreation and preserve natural resources. The policy specifically deals with a request to add recreation [Subsection D] and preservation of unique areas [Subsection E]. This was the specific policy contrast addressed by the Commissioner comments, including Commission Lantz on the day of the meeting:

What we're doing today is making a value judgment. There is competing goods, recreation and preservation of natural resources. There's not one good that trumps the other.

AR00782.

C. The Policy Must Be Considered in Its Entirety

Subsection E of the policy does not stand in isolation, nor does it dictate a particular result. The Commissioners had to consider several subsections of the policy that applied to the decision. Appellants argue Subsection E trumps the remainder of the policy and its underlying legal authority. Such an interpretation would require the Commission to ignore the underlying proposal: to extend the ski operation. That proposal was supported by a significant part of the community and is consistent with the Commission's delegated authority. The Commission considered all the

facts and attending circumstances and its decision applied the policy in its entirety as was intended.

Appellants ask this Court to essentially find that Subsection E dictated the results of all classifications at the time the policy was adopted. Such an interpretation leaves the Commission with no discretion when, in fact, the policy specifically used the word “should” to express flexibility. Discretion ensures the Commission has the ability to look at the unique nature of any area under consideration in connection with all the attending facts and circumstances at the time of the decision.

Agencies are frequently tasked with finding solutions that bridge competing objectives. The purpose of the arbitrary and capricious standard is to ensure that decisions are reasoned and made after consideration of the facts and circumstances relevant to that decision. *Norquest/RCA-W Bitter Lake P'ship v. City of Seattle*, 72 Wn. App. 467, 476, 865 P.2d 18 (1994) (citation omitted). Such decisions are not made in a vacuum years earlier without regard to the present facts and circumstances.

D. The Commission Must Follow Its Own Statutory Mission

Appellants suggest that the Commission and staff did not give adequate consideration to the comments from the Departments of Natural Resources and Fish and Wildlife. To the contrary, the comments section

of the DEIS is replete with specific responses. *See generally* AR00526, AR00528, AR00533, AR00534, AR00559, AR00560, AR00561, AR00562, AR00565, and AR00566 for examples.

More informative are the comments made by Commissioner Milner at the Commission meeting in specific regard to the perspectives of the other natural resource agencies.

It came as no surprise to learn that our allied natural resource agencies do not support the staff's recommended action for the PASEA. This reflects differences in missions, programs, projects and roles each agency plays in the matrixed approach to public land management in this country.

The role of state parks, no matter what state you're in, includes absorbing the footprint of low, medium and high-intensity outdoor recreation . . . while sustaining to the extent possible its natural function.

AR00777.

The Commission was guided by the requirements set forth in its legislative authority and its policy. It could not subordinate nor relegate that responsibility to the perspectives of other agencies, no matter how well intentioned those perspectives might be.

E. The Commission and Staff Applied the Law and Policy

Appellants argue that if the Commission deviated from an existing management policy, it must explain why it was deviating from the policy. Appellants misrepresent the Commission's decision. The record

demonstrates the Commission applied the policy; it did *not deviate from established methods of applying it*. The action before the Commission included both a request for development and protection of habitat. That action brought into play both Subsections D and E of the policy, as well as other provisions.

While there is no legal requirement that each document or law considered by a decision maker be specifically addressed, the policy was cited several times in the EIS, and the record shows that the Commissioners reviewed the EIS. The EIS specifically addressed the habitat features of the area and the potential impacts of development.³ The Commission read and considered that EIS. The policy was mentioned during the hearing the night before by counsel for Appellants and at the hearing the next day. At the Commission meeting, the individual Commissioners addressed both the development aspects of the action and the environmental aspects as provided under Subsections D and E. There is no legal precedent requiring a decision maker to specifically cite to a policy, subsection by subsection, when the record demonstrates the Commission was addressing the substance of those subsections.

³ Appellants allege the expansion will destroy 300 acres of sensitive habitat by fragmentation. The EIS does not support the allegation. Although the Department of Fish and Wildlife did express a concern about the potential for fragmentation, the EIS specifically includes numerous mitigation measures to address the concern.

Appellants attempt to analogize this case to agency actions that deviate from established policy. The analogy is not appropriate because the Commission was not deviating from the policy. The policy here summarizes competing agency priorities and guides the agency regarding the complicated task of balancing these priorities. Appellants' reliance on *CBS Corp. v FCC*, 663 F.3d 122 (3rd Cir. 2011), is therefore misplaced. CBS was penalized \$550,000 by the FCC after Janet Jackson fleetingly exposed herself indecently during the super-bowl halftime event. The FCC prohibits indecent behavior in the airwaves. The agency adopted an enforcement policy exempting fleeting words and images to cover the occasional unplanned and uncensored expletive that might come from an impromptu action. CBS argued the unplanned incident fell within the FCC's policy, in effect for 36 years, exempting fleeting words and images. The Third Circuit agreed. The Court ruled that before the agency could deviate from such a well-established enforcement policy, the agency had to provide a reasoned explanation. This rule makes sense when an agency is deviating from a practice established over 36 years and when the agency has the power to penalize such behavior. The public has a right to rely on established agency interpretation or application of policies.

There is nothing in the record indicating that the Commission had deviated from past precedent, which was the concern in *Ramaprakash v.*

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